2008

Lindsay Germer v. Famous Dave's, Wausau Insurance Company : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

ISSUES PRESENTED AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue No. 1 Whether the Labor Commission erroneously interpreted and applied the “unusual and extraordinary exertion” rule set forth in *Allen v. Industrial Commission* and its progeny when it failed to consider the totality of the circumstances of Petitioner’s industrial accident.

Standard of Appellate Review: The interpretation and application of agency specific law is reviewed for correction of error. *Nucor Corp. v. State Tax Comm’n*, 832 P.2d 1294, 1296 (Utah 1992). The decision making process of an agency is reviewed under a correction of error standard when the statutes at issue are unambiguous and subject to traditional methods of statutory construction. *King v. Industrial Comm’n of Utah*, 850 P.2d 1281, 1290 (Utah Ct. App. 1993).

Preservation of the Issue in the Administrative Agency Proceeding: This issue was preserved in Petitioner’s Motion for Review. (R. at 61 - 63.)

Issue No. 2: Whether the Labor Commission violated Petitioner’s right to procedural due process under Article I, § 7 and Article 16, § 2 of the Utah Constitution, Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-802 as well as Labor Commission Rule when the ALJ admitted into evidence information that had been improperly withheld from Petitioner without giving Petitioner a reasonable opportunity to investigate the credibility of the information or provide rebuttal evidence, and then relied on that information for purposes of denying Petitioner workers’ compensation benefits.

Standard of Appellate Review: “Due process challenges are questions of law that we review applying a correction of error standard.” *West Valley City v. Roberts*, 993 P.2d 252 (Utah 1999). Moreover, the interpretation and application of agency specific law is reviewed for correction of error. *Nucor Corp. v. State Tax Comm’n*, 832 P.2d 1294, 1296 (Utah 1992).

Preservation of the Issue in the Administrative Proceeding: Petitioner objected to the introduction of the evidence and testimony that had been improperly withheld at the time of hearing. In addition, this issue was preserved in Petitioner’s Motion for Review. (R. at 59 - 61.)

Issue No. 3: Whether the Labor Commission has failed in its statutory and constitutional obligations when it failed to enter an order in a reasonable period of time where this case waited for the Labor Commissioner to address Petitioner’s Motion for Review for almost two years.

Standard of Review: The decision making process of an agency is reviewed under a correction of error standard when the statutes at issue are unambiguous and subject to traditional methods of statutory construction. *King v. Industrial Comm’n of Utah*, 850 P.2d 1281, 1290 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). Moreover, “[a]n administrative agency must make findings of fact and conclusions of law that are adequately detailed so as to permit meaningful appellate review.” *Adams v. Board of Review of Indus. Com’n*, 821 P.2d 1, 4 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

Preservation of the Issue in the Administrative Proceeding: This first became an issue when the Utah Labor Commissioner took almost two years to address Petitioner's Motion for Review and was therefore not argued in Petitioner's Motion for Review. This appeal is Petitioner's first opportunity to raise the issue of timeliness of the Labor Commissioner's actions in the case.

DETERMINATIVE LAWS

Utah Constitution, Article I, Section 7

No person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property, without due process of law.

Utah Constitution, Article II, Section 11

All courts shall be open, and every person, for an injury done to him in his person, property or reputation, shall have remedy by due course of law, which shall be administered without denial or unnecessary delay; and no person shall be barred from prosecuting or defending before any tribunal in this State, by himself or counsel, any civil cause to which he is a party.

Utah Constitution, Article XVI, Section 2

The Legislature shall provide by law, for a Board of Labor, Conciliation and Arbitration, which shall fairly represent the interests of both capital and labor. The Board shall perform duties, and receive compensation as prescribed by law.

Utah Code Ann. §34A-2-401. Compensation for industrial accidents to be paid

(1) An employee described in Section 34A-2-104 who is injured. . .by accident arising out of and in the course of the employee's employment, wherever such injury occurred, if the accident was not purposely self-inflicted, shall be paid:

(a) Compensation for loss sustained on account of the injury or death;

(b) The amount provided in this chapter for:

(i) medical, nurse, and hospital services;

(ii) medicines; and

(iii) in case of death, the amount of funeral expenses

Utah Code Ann. §34A-2-802. Rules of evidence and procedure before commission –
admissible evidence

(1) The commission, the commissioner, and administrative law judge, or the Appeals Board, is not bound by the usual common law or statutory rules of evidence, or by any technical or formal rules or procedure, other than as provided in this section or as adopted by the commission pursuant to this chapter and Chapter 3, Utah Occupational Disease Act. The commission may make its investigation in such manner as in its judgment is best calculated to ascertain the substantial rights of the parties and to carry out justly the spirit of the chapter.

- (2) The commission may receive as evidence and use as proof of any fact in dispute all evidence deemed material and relevant including, but not limited to the following:
- (a) Depositions and sworn testimony presented in open hearings
 - (b) Reports of attending or examining physicians, or of pathologists;
 - (c) Reports of investigators appointed by the commission;
 - (d) Reports of employers, including copies of time sheets, book accounts, or other records; or
 - (e) Hospital records in the case of an injured or diseased employee.

Rule 602-2-1(C)(2) Answer

2. The answer shall admit or deny liability for the claim and shall state the reasons liability is denied. The answer shall state all affirmative defenses with sufficient accuracy and detail that the petitioner and the Division may be fully informed of the nature and substance of the defenses asserted.

Rule 602-2-1(F)(1), (6) Discovery

1. Upon filing the answer, the respondent and the petitioner may commence discovery. Discovery allowed under this rule may include interrogatories, requests for production of documents, depositions, and medical examinations. Discovery shall not include requests for admissions. Appropriate discovery under this rule shall focus on matters relevant to the claims and defenses at issue in the case. All discovery requests are

deemed continuing and shall be promptly supplemented by the responding party as information comes available.

6. Parties shall diligently pursue discovery so as not to delay the adjudication of the claim. If a hearing has been scheduled, discovery motions shall be filed no later than 45 days prior to the hearing unless leave of the administrative law judge is obtained.

Rule 602-2-1 (I)(3) Hearing

No later than 45 days prior to the scheduled hearing, all parties shall file a signed pretrial disclosure form that identifies: (1) fact witnesses the parties actually intend to call at the hearing; (2) expert witnesses the parties actually intend to call at the hearing; (3) language translator the parties intend to use at the hearing; (4) exhibits, including reports, the parties intend to offer in evidence at the hearing; (5) the specific benefits or relief claimed by the petitioner; (6) the specific defenses that the respondent actually intends to litigate; (7) whether, or not, a party anticipates that the case will take more than four hours of hearing time; (8) the job categories or titles the respondents claim the petitioner is capable of performing if the claim is for permanent total disability, and; (9) any other issues that the parties intend to ask the administrative law judge to adjudicate. The administrative law judge may exclude witnesses, exhibits, evidence, claims, or defenses as appropriate of any party who fails to timely file a signed pre-trial disclosure form as set forth above. The parties shall supplement the pre-trial disclosure form with information that newly becomes available after filing the original

form. The pre-trial disclosure form does not replace other discovery allowed under these rules.

Rule 602-2-1(N) Procedural Rules

In formal adjudicative proceedings, the Division shall generally follow the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure regarding discovery and the issuance of subpoenas, except as the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure are modified by the express provisions of Section 34A-2-802, Utah Code or as may be otherwise modified by these rules.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Lindsay Germer injured her right knee when she attempted to exit a walk-in cooler while working at Famous Dave's restaurant. At the time of the accident, Germer balanced 50 pounds of ribs on three trays, and while standing on a wet floor, grounded her feet and attempted to kick the cooler door open, at which point she fell to her knees with enough force to dislodge hardware that had been in her right knee for years. With the exception of the fact that the floor was wet and that the fall resulted in hardware torn from her knee, these are the undisputed facts adopted by the Commission in this case. It is also undisputed that Germer had pre-existing injuries to her right knee.

In addition, Germer testified that the cooler door had had a problem with sticking and that when she kicked the door at the time of her accident, it was stuck closed and did not open. Germer had no notice from Famous Dave's that it planned to challenge

Germer's testimony in this regard. At the time of hearing, however, Famous Dave's introduced the testimony of Scott Morton as well as photographs of the walk-in cooler in order to assert for the first time an affirmative defense that the cooler door did not stick shut and that legal causation was therefore not satisfied. Germer objected on the basis that the substance of the evidence Famous Dave's intended to present had never been disclosed to Germer as required by Labor Commission Rule and pursuant to Germer's direct discovery requests.

The ALJ overruled Germer's objection and allowed Morton's testimony and the introduction of the photographs without so much as taking a recess to allow Germer to obtain and prepare for the substance of Morton's testimony. The ALJ went on to deny workers' compensation benefits to Germer based primarily on Morton's testimony that the cooler door did not stick and by disregarding, isolating, and parsing the facts of Germer's accident. Germer timely filed her Motion for Review challenging the ALJ's application of the "unusual and extraordinary exertion" rule and the admission of Morton's testimony and photographs. Two years later, the Labor Commission affirmed the ALJ's denial by summarily adopting the ALJ's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and addressing the merits of Germer's Motion. This appeal proceeds from the Commission's failure to correctly interpret and apply the law based on the undisputed facts as well as violation of Germer's constitutional rights under the Due Process and Open Courts clauses of the Utah Constitution.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Petitioner Lindsay Germer slipped and injured her right knee while working at Famous Dave's restaurant when she attempted to exit the walk-in cooler while carrying three large trays of meat weighing over 50 pounds and walking on a wet floor. (R. at 100-101).

2. Famous Dave's denied workers' compensation benefits to Ms. Germer claiming that any injury to her knee was related to a pre-existing condition and not the industrial accident. (R. at 13 – 18.)

3. On or about March 29, 2005, Germer filed an Application for Hearing with the Labor Commission of Utah. (R. at 1.)

4. On May 11, 2005, Famous Dave's filed an Answer to the Application for Hearing denying Germer was entitled to benefits based upon "lack of legal causation." (R. at 13 - 18.)

5. Thereafter, on May 13, 2005, Germer served Interrogatories and Request for Production of Documents upon Famous Dave's. (Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents attached hereto as Addendum A.)

6. The relevant interrogatories and request for production of documents and responses are as follows:

INTERROGATORY NO. 3: State the name and telephone number of **each witness** who has person [sic] knowledge regarding this lawsuit and

include the **substance of the knowledge** they have as it relates to this lawsuit. (Emphasis added.)

ANSWER: Objection. Interrogatory No. 3 is overly broad and burdensome. There may be several individuals who have knowledge of the claims filed by Petitioner with Respondent of whom Respondent cannot be reasonably expected to identify at this time. Notwithstanding and without waiving such objection, however, if Petitioner seeks only the names of those individuals who witnessed Petitioner's accident of October 30, 2004, **Respondents are not aware of any individuals** who witnessed such accident. Discovery is ongoing. Respondents' will supplement this discovery response, if necessary, upon completion of discovery. (Emphasis added.)

INTERROGATORY NO. 7: If you intend to offer into evidence at the time of hearing or deposition of this matter any **impeachment evidence** as it relates to Petitioner, identify such impeachment evidence, (.e. if it is in the form of documents, identify those documents specifically). If the impeachment evidence is in the form of witness testimony, indicate the name and telephone number of such witnesses including a brief description of the impeachment information the witness(es) have. (Emphasis added.)

ANSWER: **Respondents have not completed discovery.**

Respondents have not identified all witnesses that Respondents intend to call at the hearing. Respondents **will supplement this discovery request** at the time Respondents file their pretrial disclosures with the Labor Commission at least 45 days prior to the evidentiary hearing.

(Emphasis added.)

REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 2: **Provide all photographs,** films, video tapes or similar reproductions of the Petitioner and/or which involve the Petitioner's claim in any way. (Emphasis added.)

ANSWER: None.

(Addendum A.)

7. The last discovery in this case occurred on July 6, 2005, when Famous Dave's took Germer's deposition. (R. at 55.)

8. Famous Dave's provided no further information to Germer in the ensuing 7 ½ months until its Pretrial Disclosures were filed, some 7 days late, on February 27, 2006. (R. at 55.)

9. Similarly, in their Pretrial Disclosures, Famous Dave's indicated that they intended to call as witnesses, "Petitioner, any other witness identified by Petitioner in Petitioner's Pretrial Disclosures." (R. at 24.)

10. According to Germer's Pretrial disclosures, which had been timely filed 7 days earlier, she indicated that she and her husband were the only witnesses they intended to

call at the hearing. (R. at 21.)

11. On March 8, 2006, and without leave of court or any explanation for the delay, Famous Dave's filed "Supplemental Pretrial Disclosures" where Famous Dave's indicated for the first time that they would be calling Scott Morton to testify at the hearing. However, Famous Dave's failed to provide any information as to who Mr. Morton was, or what his testimony would be. In addition, Famous Dave's further stated that it would introduce "pictures of the walk-in cooler and walk-in cooler door at Respondent Famous Dave's Restaurant" into evidence at the time of the hearing. Again, Famous Dave's neglected to provide copies of photographs prior to the hearing date. (R. at 29 – 33.)

12. On that same date, and again without explanation for the delay, Famous Dave's amended their Answers to Interrogatories as follows:

Respondents intend to call Scott Morton as a lay witness. Mr. Morton is a regional manager for William Tell/Famous Dave's. He will testify regarding the nature of restaurant's walk-in cooler, cooler door operation, and he will provide a lay-out of the walk-in cooler. He may be called upon to lay foundation for certain photographs taken of the walk-in cooler and area inside and immediately outside of the walk-in cooler. Mr. Morton can be contacted, if necessary, through counsel for Respondent.

(Respondents' Supplemental Answers to Interrogatories attached hereto as Addendum B.)

13. No further information as to the substance of the testimony anticipated to be provided by Mr. Morton was provided to Germer, neither were photographs

provided prior to the hearing. (R. at 56.)

14. A hearing was convened on Germer's claim, as previously scheduled, on March 31, 2006 before the Honorable Dale Sessions. Germer testified that while carrying 50 pounds of ribs on a tray and while attempting to open the walk-in door with her foot, she slipped and fell, because of water on the floor and a sticking door. This tore out metal in her knee from a previous injury and repair that had been done years earlier. (R. at 56 – 57.)

15. Famous Dave's attempted to offer the testimony of Mr. Morton and the photographs to which Germer timely objected based upon the fact that the disclosure of Mr. Morton was untimely and the photographs had never been provided to Germer in discovery, and in fact, Famous Dave's had represented to Germer in its discovery responses that no photographs existed. (R. at 57.)

16. The ALJ acknowledged that there were some "problems" with the timing of Famous Dave's disclosures. (R. at 116.)

17. Germer requested that the ALJ take a recess from the hearing so that she could talk to Mr. Morton and find out what he intended to testify to. (R. at 118.)

18. The ALJ overruled Germer's objections and permitted Mr. Morton to testify and allowed the introduction of the photographs into evidence. Contrary to what Famous Dave's had previously represented to Germer in its discovery responses and Supplemental Answer to Discovery, Mr. Morton testified that the door to the walk-in cooler was not sticking and there had been no problems with the door sticking. He went

into detailed testimony regarding repair to the cooler, etc., none of which was previously disclosed to Germer. (R. at 57; Hearing Transcript at 97-98.)

19. There were witnesses who had seen Germer immediately after the fall and could have testified as to observing Germer after the accident and to the fact that the door was sticking. As the issues regarding Germer's fall and the sticking door, had never previously been identified, Germer had not called these witnesses. (R. at 57.)

20. On cross-examination, Mr. Morton testified that the photographs, which had been taken one week before the scheduled hearing, were not true and accurate depictions of the actual walk-in cooler as it was at the time of the accident. He testified that soon after Germer's accident, the floor needed to be replaced as it was "coming up." This was the first time that Germer had been given this information, or seen the photographs. (R. at 57.)

21. The ALJ made a determination that Mr. Morton's testimony regarding the non-sticking door was more credible than Germer's testimony that it stuck and consequently denied her petition for workers' compensation benefits. (R. at 48.)

22. Had Germer seen the photographs prior to the Hearing or known that Morton would testify that the cooler floor was coming up, Germer would have obtained an expert who would have provided testimony that that would have led to the door sticking. (R. at 80.)

23. Despite the ALJ's findings that Germer was carrying 50 pounds of meat and the mechanism of the accident included Germer falling to her knees, he determined that

the causation of the accident turned on whether the walk-in cooler door stuck or not and denied Germer benefits based on his determination that the door did not stick. (R. at 45 – 50.)

24. On May 5, 2006, Germer timely filed a Motion for Review challenging the ALJ's decisions to permit Mr. Morton's testimony and allow the introduction into evidence of photographs, both of which Famous Dave's had withheld from Germer despite her discovery requests for exactly such information 7 months earlier. Germer also challenged the ALJ's determination that the compensability of Germer's industrial injury turned on whether the cooler door was stuck closed as the ALJ's other findings that she was carrying 50 pounds of meat and fell to her knees while attempting to open the cooler door satisfied the "unusual and extraordinary exertion" requirement set forth in *Allen v. Industrial Comm'n* and its progeny. (R. at 51 – 80.)

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