2008

Lindsay Germer v. Famous Dave's and/or Wausau Insurance Company and Utah Labor Commission : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

First, the Commission properly determined that Ms. Germer's industrial claim was not compensable for failing to satisfy the higher standard of legal causation as articulated in Allen v. Industrial Commission. Ms. Germer failed to show that the mode of accident was an unusual or extraordinary exertion when compared to non-industrial 20th century activities. There is substantial evidence to support the Commission's finding regard the mode of accident. Indeed, Ms. Germer's testimony revealed that, while carrying trays of meat, she kicked the cooler door with her right foot while her left foot remained grounded. Ms. Germer was not in continuous motion at the time of the event and was well- balanced on both when she kicked the door open. She did not trip. She did not slip. She did not stumble. She did not fall to the ground. In fact, Ms. Germer's right knee never came in direct contact with the cooler door, nor did her right knee come in contact with the cooler floor as she slumped to the ground after kicking the door with her right foot.

Given the mechanism of injury, the ALJ and Commission acted reasonably and rationally in finding that the physical exertion placed on Ms. Germer's right knee at the time she claimed to have kicked the walk-in cooler door with her right foot was not extraordinary or unusual. The trays of ribs that Ms. Germer held in her arms at the time of the alleged accident had no bearing on the physical exertion, if any, placed on Ms. Germer's right knee at the time she attempted to

kick the walk-in cooler door with her right foot. Ms. Germer did not injure her right knee from having carried the trays of ribs. Moreover, there was nothing awkward, extraordinary or difficult about her effort to hold the trays of ribs as Ms. Germer attempted to kick the walk-in cooler door with her right foot. Despite carrying the trays of ribs, Ms. Germer was balanced, well-grounded, and stable at the time she claims to have kicked the door with her right foot.

The Commission and ALJ properly examined the mechanism of injury in the context of the Allen decision to activities in non-employment life. The Commission properly determined that in non-industrial life, persons use their feet to kick a door, slide a box or garbage can, or even move furniture or other items. Oftentimes, such an action may occur while the person is lifting or carrying certain objects. The ALJ and Commission were also correct to discern that individuals in their non-employment life use their feet to kick a ball while engaging in a sport or other type of extra-curricular activity. This alleged accident is also similar to non-employment physical activities such as climbing or descending stairs, or stepping on uneven surfaces.

Second, the Commission did not violate Ms. Germer's right to due process in admitting testimony of Scott Morton and photographs of the cooler and cooler door. Contrary to Ms. Germer's argument, she was not surprised by this evidence. Several weeks prior to the evidentiary hearing, Famous Dave's informed Ms. Germer of this testimony and evidence by way of pre-trial

disclosures, supplemental discovery and telephone conferences with Ms.

Germer's attorney. However, Ms. Germer's counsel made no request to depose Mr. Morton, conduct any sort of pre-hearing interview of the intended witness or to view the photographs of the cooler.

Third, the Commission's delay to issue a decision in this case, while unfortunate to all parties, has no bearing on Ms. Germer's right to compensation or the outcome of this case.

ARGUMENT

POINT 1: THE LABOR COMMISSION PROPERLY DETERMINED THAT MS. GERMER'S INDUSTRIAL INJURY CLAIM WAS NOT COMPENSABLE

Under the Utah Worker's Compensation Act, Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-401 (2004), an employee is entitled to worker's compensation benefits for injuries occurring, "by accident arising out of and in the course of the employee's employment." Id. To receive benefits, a claimant must, among other things, prove by a preponderance of evidence a causal connection between the injury and the activities or exertions in the work place. See Allen v. Industrial Commission, 729 P.2d 15, 18, 22-23 (Utah 1986). To do so, the claimant must prove both legal and medical causation. See id. at 25. In Allen, the threshold case on this issue, the Court stated:

Where a claimant suffers from a preexisting condition which contributes to the injury, an unusual or extraordinary exertion is required to prove legal causation. Where there is no preexisting condition, usual or ordinary exertion is sufficient.

Allen, 729 P.2d at 26.

Ms. Germer argues that the ALJ and Commission's findings of fact must be reversed since they do not consider the, "totality of the circumstances" and "disregard uncontroverted evidence." Specifically, she argues that the Commission disregarded crucial evidence that: (1) the floor was wet with condensation at the time of accident; (2) medical records of Dr. Germer note the

“forcefulness” of her fall; and, (3) Ms. Germer was carrying a large cookie sheet with fifty pounds of meat at the time of the accident. She argues that had the ALJ and Commission considered this evidence, her mode of injury would satisfy the higher standard of legal causation. Ms. Germer’s arguments lacks merit for several reasons.

A. Ms. Germer has failed to Marshall the Evidence.

Ms. Germer’s argument – that the court disregarded crucial evidence in rendering its finding regarding the mode of injury – must fail at the outset as she has failed to marshal the evidence as required by law. Utah’s appellate courts have held that to successfully challenge an agency’s factual findings, the party “must marshall all of the evidence supporting the findings and show that despite the supporting facts, and in light of the conflicting or contradictory evidence, the findings are not supported by substantial evidence.” Martinez v. Media-Paymaster Plus, 2007 UT 42 (Utah 2007); Grace Drilling Co. v. Bd. of Review of Indus. Comm’n, 776 P.2d 63, 68 (Utah Ct. App. 1989); accord Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(9) (“A party challenging a fact finding must first marshal all record evidence that supports the challenged finding.”). This requires counsel to construct the evidence supporting the adversary’s position, and then “ferret out a fatal flaw in the evidence.” West Valley City v. Majestic Inv. Co., 818 P.2d 1311, 1315 (Utah 1991). Compliance with this undertaking helps ensure that the factual findings of the agency are overturned only when lacking in substantial evidence.

Ms. Germer does not marshal the evidence. Ms. Germer is required to list all of the evidence which supports the findings of the Commission and then demonstrate that the evidence is inadequate to sustain the findings. See Valcarce v. Fitzgerald, 961 P.2d 305, 312 (Utah 1998). Since Ms. Germer has failed to marshal the evidence, the Court of Appeals is bound to assume that the record supports the Commission's findings. See Wade v. Stagl, 869 P.2d 9, 12 (Utah Ct. App. 1994).

B. There is Substantial Evidence To Support the Commission's Findings Regarding What Exertions Were Involved in the Work Accident.

Even assuming, *arguendo*, that Ms. Germer satisfies her burden to marshal the evidence, there is substantial evidence to support the Commission's factual findings regarding the mechanism of injury.

In the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, the ALJ states in relevant part:

Petitioner's claim arises from an incident that occurred on October 30, 2004. Petitioner was in the cooler to pick up some meat that needed to be cooked for the day. When she attempted to leave the cooler, the Petitioner alleges that the door was stuck closed, and that when she kicked the door with her foot, she felt immediate pain in her knee and she "went down" on both knees.

. . . .

Petitioner testified that she was in the cooler. . .to obtain some meat that needed to be cooked for the day. She testified that she picked up three trays (each being approximately 18" x 24" much like a large cookie sheet) which weighed approximately 50 pounds total. She was careful to

approach the door and was holding the meat at about waist height. She stopped in front of the door to make sure her feet were “grounded.” [because she knew the floor was wet]. This she explained was that she balanced on both feet. She was standing about one to two feet from the door at that time. She lifted her right foot and kicked the door “as hard as she could”, expecting it would open. It did not. She felt immediate pain in her right knee. . . . During the course of cross examination, Petitioner demonstrated the incidents of the morning of October 30, 2004. She held the tray (empty) in the approximate waist high position, and approached the door in the Courtroom for demonstration purposes. She stood near the door and described her activities. Of particular note is that Petitioner claimed during her testimony and during the demonstration that she kicked the door with her foot. However, at the distance she indicated she was standing from the door, at best she could have kicked the door with the ball of her foot (toes). Then she stated that the initial contact was with the toe area of her foot, then involved the full flat part of her foot. The does not appear possible at the distance she testified she was standing to wit: one to two feet from the door.

Petitioner’s testimony was further contradicted when she stated that she was standing balanced and “grounded” on both feet and her full body weight was moving toward the door. In the position she demonstrated her body was at rest, she not in continuous motion towards the door . . .

(R., 170 at 46-47).

In its Order Affirming ALJ’s Decision, the Commission found as follows with regard to the mechanism of injury:

The Commission adopts Judge Sessions Findings of Facts. The facts relevant to the motion for review are as follows: On October 30, 2003, Ms. Germer was retrieving trays of meat out of a walk-in cooler at Famous Dave’s. As she held the meat trays in front of her, Ms. Germer kicked on the cooler door with her right foot in order to open the door. She felt immediate pain in her right knee. Although Ms. Germer claims that the door stuck when she kicked it, the evidence demonstrates that it did not stick. Prior to this accident, Ms. Germer had a pre-existing right knee condition and had undergone several surgeries to repair the right knee. (R., 170 at 164)

First, Ms. Germer argues that the court disregarded crucial evidence – that the floor was wet with condensation – which had a significant bearing on the case. However, Ms. Germer did not argue at the evidentiary hearing, or in her Motion for Review that condensation on the floor had any bearing on the court’s evaluation of legal causation. On this basis, she has waived this argument on appeal. See Brown & Root Indus. Serv. v. Industrial Comm’n, 947 P.2d 671 (Utah 1997) (failure to raise issues in Motion for Review are deemed waived on appeal as they are not properly preserved); Whitear v. Labor Comm’n, 973 P.2d 982 (Utah 1998). In any event, the ALJ’s Order appears to have considered the surface of the floor when the ALJ recognized that Ms. Germer’s feet were “grounded” immediately prior to kicking the door. Apparently, Ms. Germer grounded her feet since she knew the floor was wet with condensation. (Tr., 29, 66).

Second, Ms. Germer argues that the court disregarded medical records of her orthopedic surgeon whom she states noted the “forcefulness” of her fall. Again, Ms. Germer did not raise this issue in her Motion for Review and, therefore, has waived such a challenge on appeal. Notwithstanding, the ALJ properly evaluated the mode of injury– as kicking the door – rather than events or forces subsequent to the accident. Indeed, in evaluating legal causation, the focus is on the actual impact or the physical exertion on the right knee from the work accident, rather than the consideration of events leading up to or after the

accident. This means the focus must be on the forces acting upon Ms. Germer's right knee at the time of the workplace event.

Third, Ms. Germer argues that the court disregarded the fact that she was carrying a large cookie sheet with fifty pounds of meat at the time of the accident which is relevant to the legal causation evaluation. Ms. Germer again did not argue this in her Motion for Review and has waived this issue on appeal. Notwithstanding, the ALJ and Commission orders clearly recognize that Ms. Germer was carrying three trays of meat, totaling a combined weight of 50 pounds at the time of the accident. (R., 46-48, 164-65). Even with these trays in hand, however, the court found Ms. Germer's body balanced when she kicked the door open. She did no trip. She did not stumble. She did not fall. The fact that Ms. Germer has hold a tray of meat at the time she kicked the cooler door with her right foot had no bearing on the physical impact upon Ms. Germer's right knee caused by Ms. Germer kicking the cooler door. Accordingly, there was no error committed by the court.

C. The Labor Commission Acted Reasonably and Rationally in Ruling That Ms. Germer's Injury Did Not Meet the Higher Legal Causation Standard

This Court must next evaluate whether the Commission acted reasonably and rationally in ruling that the activities of October 30, 2004 did not rise to the level of an unusual or extraordinary exertion.

There is no dispute that the higher standard of legal causation as articulated in Allen applies in this case.² Ms. Germer does not dispute the application of this standard, but rather argues that the mechanism of injury was an “unusual or extraordinary exertion”, sufficient to meet this test.

Ms. Germer’s accident does not meet the higher standard of legal causation. In Allen v. Industrial Commission, 729 P.2d 15 (Utah 1986), the threshold case on this issue, the Court stated:

Where a claimant suffers from a preexisting condition which contributes to the injury, an unusual or extraordinary exertion is required to prove legal causation. Where there is no preexisting condition, usual or ordinary exertion is sufficient.

² Ms. Germer acknowledges that she suffered from chronic left and right knee problems which pre-dated the accident. While still in high school, Ms. Germer underwent both left and right knee surgeries to remove loose cartilage (R., 170 at 002). In 1991 and 1992, Ms. Germer sought medical care for complaints of bilateral knee pain (R., 170 at 002). In 1993, Ms. Germer underwent bilateral knee surgery for persistent complaints of left and right knee pain. In January 2001, while employed as a CNA, Ms. Germer caught her right toe in a door jam and tripped and landed on her right knee. She was diagnosed with a right TCL, MCL, LCL, and lateral meniscus tears (R., 170 at 172). Ms. Germer was then referred to physical therapy for almost six months.

On April 27, 2001, Ms. Germer underwent a right knee PCL reconstruction (R., 170 at 60-70). On October 22, 2001, Ms. Germer’s right knee hardware was removed (R., 170 at 163). On December 27, 2003, Ms. Germer jumped from a snow bank and landed on her right knee. The right knee gave way (R., 170 at 107).

From Ms. Germer’s chronic and long-standing right knee problems, it is not disputed that Ms. Germer brought an added risk of injury to her right knee to her employment with Respondent Famous Dave’s. The ALJ and the Commission were correct to find that Ms. Germer’s accident is subject to a higher standard of legal causation.

Legal Cause -- Whether an injury arose out of or in the course of employment is difficult to determine where the employee brings to the workplace a personal element of risk such as a preexisting condition. Just because a person suffers a preexisting condition, he or she is not disqualified from obtaining compensation. Our cases make clear that "the aggravation or lighting up of a pre-existing disease by an industrial accident is compensable" To meet the legal causation requirement, a claimant with a preexisting condition must show that the employment contributed something substantial to increase the risk he already faced in everyday life because of his condition. This additional element of risk in the workplace is usually supplied by an exertion greater than that undertaken in normal, everyday life. This extra exertion serves to offset the preexisting condition of the employee as a likely cause of the injury, thereby eliminating claims for impairments resulting from a personal risk rather than exertions at work. Larson summarized how the legal cause rule would work in practice as follows: If there is some personal causal contribution in the form of a [preexisting condition], the employment contribution must take the form of an exertion greater than that of nonemployment life

If there is no personal causal contribution, that is, if there is no prior weakness or disease, any exertion connected with the employment and causally connected with the [injury] as a matter of medical fact is adequate to satisfy the legal test of causation. Thus, where the claimant suffers from a preexisting condition which contributes to the injury, an unusual or extraordinary exertion is required to prove legal causation. Where there is no preexisting condition, a usual or ordinary exertion is sufficient.

....

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